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143. This animal is an adult male (os penis present) with an
estimated shoulder height of just 0.35m. The stature of this
animal is towards the lower end of the size range  tablished
for Romano-British dogs (Harcourt 1974). The bones of
the forelimb are noticeably bowed, and modern breeds of
dog with this type of limb conformation include corgis,
dachshunds and basset hounds.

It is also worth noting that red deer is represented by a
post-cranial element (e.g. first phalanx) and two pieces of
antler. The largest piece of antler is from context 143, and
comprises the basal part of the beam just below the junction
with the brow tine. Sections of antler have been removed
from around the outside the piece using a saw to produce
clean flat pieces, probably for object manufacture.

Discussions

During the late 1st century the area is thought to have been
used as a military supply base and previous excavations
around Sea Mills (Ellis 1987; Levitan 1986; Higbee 2006)
have produced small assemblages of animal bones that
display some of the characteristics gencrally associated with
military sites. These include a relatively high percentage of
cattle bones and evidence for specialist butchery tec” "jues,
such as cured shoulder joints (see Dobney et al 1996, 26-7).
The assemblage from No.75 Sea Mills Lane includes slightly
more sheep/goat than cattle bones, however, it is clear from
the type of bone waste and the butchery evidence, that the
assemblage includes the remains of a significant number
of cattle and that these were butchered in a systematic way
typical of Roman military practices (Seetah 2006).

The Crouched Inhumation Burial (SK1)
By Dr Heidi Dawson

Introduction

Skeleton 1 consisted of the fragmented remains of a
crouched inhumation burial. The bones were assessed in
accordance with the IFA/BABAO guidelines (Brickley
& McKinley 2004). Sex was determined by analysing
the rphology of the skull and mandible as outlined in
Brickley & McKinley (2004) and Buikstra and Ubelaker
(1994). Age at death was determined through epiphyseal
fusion and dental development (Scheuer & Black, 2000)
and with reference (o the dental attrition chart of Brothwell
(1981: Fig. 3.9). The material was too fragmented to record
any measurements, but non-metric traits were scored as
present, absent or un-recordable according to Berry & Berry
(19 ., where possible.

Preservation

The preservation of the skeleton was very poor with most
of the bone elements in a very fragmentary state. The skull
fragments were mainly eroded, exposing the cancellous
bone (diploe) on the ectocranial (external) surface, whilst the
endocranial (internal) surface was more intact. This suggests
that the preservation of the burial may have been affected by
conditions of fluctuating groundwater. The enamel crowns
of the dentition were present and intact for some of the teeth,

although many were represented only by small fragments
of enamel. Some of the roots were retained within the jaw
bones, but it appears ~  the dentine component of the teeth
had been lost through taphonomic processes.

Sex

No sexually dimorphic areas of the pelvis or skull were
present, so assignment of sex was based on the mandible,
projected size of the femoral head, ¢ ° with reference to
the photograph of the burial in-situ. The mandible is gracile
with a smooth gonial area and slight mental eminence
indicating a more female morphology. The femoral head
was incomplete, so measurements could not be taken,
however, it appears small visually. The photograph of the
skeleton in-situ shows a flat and upright frontal bone and a
lack of muscular markings. These features all suggest that
this individual is most likely to be female.

Age

The head of femur was fully fused, with no obvious fusion
line in evidence, indicating this individual to be over sixtecn
years of age. Due to the poor preservation of the dentition,
developmental stage could not be assessed, and whilst this
individual did not have their third molars erupted, it is not
uncommon for these to be congenitally absent or impacted.
There was evidence for dental attrition on some of the intact
teeth with the left lower = t molar scored as 2+ or 3—
according to the chart of Brothwell (1981), indicating an age
of between | 5 years of age. There was only slight enamel
wear on the upper second molars; the evidence suggests this
individual was between 16 and 25 years of age.

Palaeopathology

No sign of calculus, carious lesions or periodontal disease
was noted on the dentition, although due to the poor
preservation, the presence of these in life cannot be ruled out
entirely. Slight enamel hypoplasia was in evidence on three
of the identified tooth crowns. Enamel hypoplasia is caused
by disruption to the growth of the enamel due to stress
suffered by the developing child, often in terms of tllness or
nutritional deficiency. The timing of the development of -
canine tecth suggests an episode of stress in this individual’s
life between 25 years of age (Scheuer & Black 2000, 159).

Discussion

The remains of SKI| appear to represent a young adult
female aged around 16-25 years at death. Although
preservation is poor, this individual appears to have had a
good dentition with little dental attrition and no caries in
evidence. Enamel hypoplasia on the canine teeth indicates
a stress episode suffered in childhood. No other pathology
or unusual non-metric traits were recorded. The crouched
nature of the burial suggests the continuation of local burial
practice common in ~  south west from the mid-Late Iron
Age (Evans et al. 2006). The cemetery at Poundbury, Dorset
illustrates changing burial practice over time from crouched
burial in the late Iron Age/early Romano-British periods 1o
extended inhumation burial in the late Roman period (Farwell
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some bone being evident at surface level and the recovery
of a small quantity of bone (10.8g; c1.6% of the overall
weight of bone recorded) from the adjacent ditch fill, it
is unlikely that much bone was lost from the deposit as a
result of disturbance. Although in this case there is no data
to demonstrate the location of the bone within the urn (the
fill all being recovered as one rather than by spit), evidence
from elsewhere has illustrated that the majority of the bone
tends to lie in the lower 80-100mm depth of the container.
The bone is visually in good condition and trabecular bone,
generally the first to be lost in an adverse burial environment
(McKinley 1997, 245; Nielsen-Marsh et al 2000) is well
represented. Overall, it is likely that the quantity of bone
recove | is close to that originally deposited.

The individual

The 656g of bone recovered from the burial (plus 10.8g
from the ditch fill) represent the remains of an adult male,
¢35-45 years of age, and is inclusive of a minimum of 140g
(c21% by weight of the total) of cremated animal bone (pig
<2 years; species identifications by Lorrain Higbee).

The only pathological lesions observed comprise
enthesophytes, bony growths which may develop at tendon
and ligament insertions on the bone. Causative factors
include advancing age, traumatic stress, or various diseases
(Rogers and Waldron 1995, 24-25). They are commonly
seen as here in the anterior surface of the patella (slight-
mild, right side) where they reflect activity related stress.
Slight lesions recorded along parts of the iliac crest (pelvis)
and in the left lesser trochanter (femur) probably have a
similar aetiology.

Minor morphological variations/non-metric traits, were
observed in the patella (shallow Vastus notch) and mandible.
Features in the latter suggest retention of a deciduous tooth
and the related non-eruption of a permanent tooth (bone
fragment too small to ascertain exact location).

Pyre technology and mortuary rite
The bone is almost universally white in colour indicating
an overall high level of oxidation (Holden et al 1995a and
b). Minor variations reflecting incomplete oxidation were,
however, observed in a few bone fragments. Slight blue
or grey colouration was seen in parts of several fragments
of various elements of upper and lower limb. Elements of
the latter were most frequently affected (three; femur shaft,
patella, tarsals), with involvement of two elements of the
upper limb (humerus shaft and a carpal). The variations are
relatively minor and generally affect those elements with
dense soft tissue coverage or which are likely to have lain on
the peripheries of the pyre (hands/feet). It has been observed
that the greatest variability in oxidation in the Romano-
British period is generally seen in the remains of adult males,
their larger bulk requiring longer to cremate in full and,
consequently, being more prone to a shortfall particularly if
a ‘standard’, ‘one-size-fits’ all pyre is employed (McKinley
2008a).

The quantity of bone recovered represents c41% by
weight of ~* average expected from an adult cremation

(McKinley 1993); the proportion is reduced to ¢33%
when the known weight of animal bone is excluded from
the overall figure, but is probably somewhat less than this
given the obvious size and robusticity of this individual.
...t quantity falls at the lower end of the median range of
those weights recorded from contemporaneous cemeteries
(Mc™" ey 2004b, Table 6.6).

The fragmentation of cremated bone is influenced
by a variety of intrinsic and extrinsic factors exclusive of
human manipulation with the deliberate intent to fragment
(McKinley 1994b; 2004b). The majority of the bone from
the burial was recovered from the 10mm sieve fraction (51%
excluding the <Imm fraction, c46% if the latter is included),
with a maximum fragment size of 43mm. As is generally
observed, there is no evidence indicative of deliberate
manipulation of the bone aimed at reducing the size of the
fragments prior to burial.

Most cremation burials of any period (unless
substantially disturbed) will include fragments of elements
from all four skeletal areas (skull, axial skeleton, upper and
lower limb). The identifiable proportions from each are
often skewed from what may be referred to as a ‘normal’
distribution due to the ease with which skull fragments may
be recognised, the difficulties in distinguishing individual
long bones and the frequent taphonomic loss of trabecular
bone (predominantly axial skeleton; McKinley 1994a, 6;
McKinley 2004b, 298-9). In this case, a relatively low
proportion of the bone was identifiable to skeletal element
(c33% by weight excluding the known quantity of animal
bone). The distribution (by weight) is, however, not far
removed from ‘normal’, though the bias in favour of skull
elements at the expense of the axial skeleton previously
discussed is evident; c27% skull elements, c8% axial
skeleton, ¢17% upper and 48% lower limb.

The small bones of the hands and feet and tooth roots
no longer in situ are routinely recovered from cremation
burials, and the writer has discussed elsewhere how their
frequency of occurrence may provide some i "~ ation of
the mode of recovery of bone from the pyre site for burial
(McKinley 2004b, 300-1). Relatively large numbers of these
elements have been recorded from some contemporaneous
cemeteries, €.g. 27-32 from the burials at Kingsley Fields,
Nantwich, Cheshire (McKinley 2009), but elsewhere much
small quantities have been found, e.g. Wall, Staffordshire
(maximum 13 elements; McKinley 2008b, 136) and
Brougham, Cumbria (McKinley 2004b, 298-301). At Sea
Mills, a fairly substantial number of hand and foot bones
were identified (18), and the implication is that collection
was facilitated by raking-off and winnowing of the cremated
remains rather than individual hand-recovery of fragments,
thereby easing the recovery of the smaller skeletal elements
as well as the larger ones.

The inclusion of animals, part or whole, on the pyre
was a common facet of the Romano-British rite, though the
frequency of occurrence varied widely ranging from 3.5%
of burials from Westhampnett, West Sussex (McKinley and
Smith 1997) to 80% of urned burials from Wall (McKinley
2008b, 126-7). The substantial quantity of animal bone









hone stone was recovered during the 1966 Abon House
excavations (Ellis 19 | 65). Hones such as these cannot
be independently dated and could have been used for
sharpening not only tools, but also household utensils or
weapons (Cool 2008, 98).

The remaining worked stone fragment is a block of
micaceous sandstone, ro ~ly 80mm square in plan, 42mm
thick, with a smoothed upper surface. It is possible that the
object is a fragment of paving slab, or possibly a fragment
of a stone table-top, or other architectural stonework (Cool
2008,10 ).

Glass

Two Romano-British glass vessel shards were recovered
from the evaluation, one, Small Find 5, from the upper fill
of Pit 123 and onc, Small Find 20, from the upper fill of
Ditch 119. Smali Find 5 is a pale blue, thick-walled vessel
glass shard, similar to a shard recovered from the same
pit during the previous evaluation (Young 2005, 14). The
second shard, Small Find 20, of pale green vessel glass of
varying thickness, from the upper fill, Context ), of Ditch
119. During the Nazareth House excavations of 1972, thirty
shards of Romano-British glass werc fo  °, most of them
vessel fragments of blue-green glass, dating to the late 1st
to 2nd centuries A.D. (Price 1985, 51-2). The excavations
of 1965-7 yielded 104 vessel fragments of s° “ar date
(Cool and Price 1987, 92-7). Blue-green glass represents
the “natural” colour of the glass, without the addition of
colouring agents and as such it was the most common colour
for Romano-British glass vessels from the 1st to the 3rd
centuries A.D. (Price and Cottam 1998, 15).

Discussion

The assemblage encompasses a range of objects, from
personal items including nail cleaners, to tools such as a
knife blade and hone-stone, all of which may have derived
from either a domestic or a military context. With the
exception of the pottery (sce pottery report), the metalwork
is probably the most diagnostic part of the assemblage. The
Aucissa brooch is likely to be of military origin and to have
been imported from Gaul at some time before A.D.70. The
two penannular brooches have a longer life-span, extending
into the 2nd century, and may be of local origin. Similarly,
the nail cleaners 7 be of local manufacture, of probable
mid to late 1st century date, but these, too, may also be
found in 2nd century A.D. contexts.

The most unusual of the small finds are the possible jet
fragment and the fragment of worked shale platter, which
may both derive from Purbeck, Dorset. The platter is likely
to be of 1st to 2nd century A.D. datc on stratigraphic grounds,
although this is one of the few objects in the assemblage
whose use continued into the 3rd century A.D.

" USSION

The site-specific evidence
The Romano-British activity recorded at 75 Sea Mills © ¢
is dated by pottery and typologically to the late 1st to early

YOUNG: EXCAVATIONS AT 75 SEAMILLS LA. . 15

2nd century AD, after which the Roman presence appears to
have declined significantly and was confined to the continued
use and repair or resurfacing of the trackway. The Period
1 features divided into two phases that produced similar
ceramic material. The initial phase of Roman activity dates
to the Flavio-Trajanic period, broadly between AD 69 and
AD 120, despite the presence of some pre-Flavian pottery
sherds. The activity associated with this phase includes the
construction of the trackway, digging of three postholes and
the small boundary ditch and its infilling. __.e trackway was
carefully metalled and may havc been a continuation of
T"is’s Street F70 that he identified to the northeast as the
carliest of the worn cobble trackway surfaces at Abon House
(Ellis 1987).

Close by to the trackway at 75 Sea Mills Lanc, each of
the larger posthole features had a profile consistent with use
for © founding of a timber, although it is difficult to know
what the timbers were used for as they varied in size and
formed no particular pattern. Howcver, one possibility is that
they v individual, unconnected posts, perhaps markers
associated with the phasc 2 cremation and inhumation
burial-related activity.

Finds from the fills of the ditch point to a contemporary
arca of more intensive settlement activity nearby, almost
certainly upslope 1o thc south. One element of this activity
seems to have been the fairly intensive and systematic
processing of cattle carcasses, which is reportedly consistent
with more organised and larger-scale military practices,
although more sheep/goat than cattle bones were recorded
from the site. Less common species identified at 75 Sea
Mills Lane include pig, horse, dog, red deer, and domestic
fowl, as well as a few fish and rodent bones. These relative
proportions and implied importance arc consistent with the
analysis of the animal bones from Nazareth House (Levitan,
in Bennett, 1986), where cattle also formed the major part
of the assemblage.

The cvidence associated with the earliest phase of
Roman activity indicates that the site was marginal to the
main focus of settlement, where activity was of relatively
low intensity and different from the burial-related activity
that characterised the phase that followed.

Phase 2 dates from the carly to mid-2nd century (c120-
150 AD) and saw the filling of the postholes, resurfacing
or repair of the trackway and the burial of one, or probably
two, urned cremations and a single crouched inhumation.

Inplan * extent of the resurfacing or repair layer hints
at the possibility that the trackway may have either turned
or forked to the northeast or cast at the point at which it was
found, a possibility supported by a total absence for the track
b ath House Plots 1 and 2. No cquivalent resurfacing of
the trackway was evident at No. 79 Sea Mills Lane, whilst
the later formation of Street F70 at Abon House incorporated
side drainage as part of an altogether more engineered road
construction.

The presence of at least one, and most likely two,
inverted urned cremations and the crouched burial, combined
with Roman urned and cisted cremation burials recorded
next door at No.79 Sea Mills Lane, suggest that Nos. 75 and
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This pattern of activity fits with the hypothesis that
envisages later 1st — early 2nd century AD military activity,
and specifically settlement, restricted to a core area on
higher ground to the south and west of the 75 Sea Mills
Lane site, an area broadly consistent with the conjectured
site of an occupation fort proposed by Higgins. On that
basis the cremation and crouched burials recorded at Nos
75 and 79 Sea Mills Lane would have been located outside
and to the north of the boundary of the military settlement,
consistent with established Roman burial practice.

The absence of any evidence for significant activity on
the site after the mid-2nd century is surprising given the
substantial stone buildings and related domestic activity
recorded as Period 4 by Ellis at Abon House (see Fig. 9).
Higgins (ibid, Fig 3) suggests that the later Roman vicus
expanded beyond the footprint of the earlier Occupation
fort, but still within a larger overall defensive circuit that
was defined during the earlier phase by an earth rampart (or
even a wall at 51 Roman Way (Ellis, ibid, p43) on the south
and north eastern sides, and the Trym and Avon to the north
and west. The total absence of later Roman activity on the
+» Sea Mills  ne site, and indeed at adjacent property No.
79, does not necessarily exclude this possibility, indeed
the apparent cessation of burial-related activity on both
sites around the middle of the 2nd century may well imply
a change of land use from funerary to settlement related
activity, possibly cultivation. If so, this would be consistent
with the suggestion by Ellis (ibid), that the development and
expansion of the later Roman settlement was accompanied
by a lessening of overall urban organisation with some
areas remaining essentially unused, at least for direct
occupation.
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were heavily truncated and poorly dated, and stratigraphic
relationships between key features had been lost through
later truncation.

Initially thought to be a possible bread oven (Heaton
2010), hearth 1012 is comparable with similar medieval
structures excavated along the Redcliffe waterfront in
Bristol, often associated with processes involved in dyeing
or tanning, for instance the 13th to 15th-century circular
hearths recorded during excavation at 1-2 Redcliff Street,
Bristol (CA 2010). These were of similar date, diameter and
construction to hearth 1012, and all displayed evidence for
burning on the surface of their pitched stone floors. Given
the structure’s location at the lower end of the site, close to
the Frome, a function as the base of an industrial «  :ture,
possibly related to the heating of vats related to tanning or
dyeing processes, cannot be ruled out. The extensive urban
survey attests to the town’s involvement in the cloth and
leather industries in the late medieval to early post-medieval
period (l.a Trobe-Bateman 1996, 3), and this structure may
represent the first physical evidence of such activity to be
recorded. However, due to the severely truncated nature of
the remains of hearth 1012 and associated structural remains,
and the limited area investigated, further interpretation is
difficult.
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The presence of worked flint dating from the Mesolithic-
Neolithic and from the Bronze Age would suggest longevity
of occupation somewhere in the immediate area for a long
period of prehistory. It is not difficult toimagine a pre-historic
settlement on the site gradually ma’ ™ the transition from
traditional ways to become more ‘Romanized’, making more
and more use of imported goods in everyday life during the
years either side of the conquest in AD 43. The presence
of the sherds of handmade fabrics typical of the later Iron
Age, but which also ¢ 1only continue to be used into
the early Roman period, point towards that transition. The
limited nature of the excavation to date means that structural
evidence for this period has not yet been encountered. There
are a few residual sherds of pottery which could suggest 1st
century activity in the area but these are very sparse.

Itis during the 2nd century AD that the settlement appears
to enjoy a transformation and perhaps an expansion. The
boundary ditch that fronts onto the main road was opened to
become a much more significant feature and this is possibly
the © : that the range of buildings was developed on the
terraced hillside. Cunliffe notes that, at this time, the town
of Bath was enjoying a renewed period of interest in the
spring of Minerva and a significant level of expansion and
new building was being undertaken in the second half of the
2nd century. This would seem to coincide with the upturn
in activity at Hanging Hill. One possibility is that the site
became favoured by a richer entrepreneur at this juncture,
a perfect place to build a desirable country residence with
a view. It is clear that the occupants could now afford to
acquire fine pottery vessels from Gaul and the Rhineland
as well as from the length and breadth of this country. A
vast range of domestic vessels are being brought to the site
along with olive-oil from Baetica, South Spain and wine
from Gaul. The commonest regional pottery = Horts were
of black burnished vessels from Poole Harbour, Dorset
which accounts for 16% of the total assemblage. Amongst
these are various jars, flat-rim bowls, plain-walled dishes
and flanged-rim conical bowls. Other regional imports
include items of late Roman shelly ware from the Midlands,
Mancetter-Hartshill mortaria from Warwickshire and vessels
from both the New Forest and Oxfordshire. From sources
probably closer to the site are vessels made of Severn Valley
ware and some Saver ware from Wiltshire. Unusually,
for a site so close to the Seven Valley the amount of Severn
Valley ware is relatively low. Domestic artefacts such as
brooches, cosmetic implements and ring intaglio suggest
that the finer aspects of domestic life were being enjoyed
here and that the site enjoyed a relatively wealthy status.

Between the early 2nd century and the 4th century
the stone buildings were built and continually enhanced
on terraces cut into the hillside. The presence of painted
wall plaster testifies to the wealth of the site. The differing
types of plaster and different find spots suggest at least two
rooms with such ornamentation. Whilst only one corner of
a substantial stone building was uncovered, the geophysics
indicate an extensive range of buildings across the site
that still have to be explored and explained in terms of
chronological development. The large volume of pottery

recovered from a relatively small area and the variety of
different domestic animal bone present suggests intense
domestic activity between the =~ d and 4th centuries AD.
Albeit a relatively small sample, the larger number of coins
date from the late 3rd century when activity was possibly at
peak. A 4th century coin and the single sherd of late Roman
Shelly ware (ROB SH) indicates continued use of the site
into the last quarter of the 4th century.

From this evaluation nothing has been recovered that
suggests occupation of the site in the immediate post-
Roman period; however, the excavation of the site thus far
has been very limited. Further excavation will reveal more
of the geographical nature of the site and facilitate a greater
understanding of the chronology of the phases of occupation
that have been determined thus far.

CONCLUSIONS

The geophysical survey and the evaluation excavation at
Hanging 1l have confirmed the presence of a significant
settlement dating from the Roman period. It would appear
from the evidence presented by the artefacts that the site is
moderately high status. This is supported by the presence
of painted wall plaster and the occupation of an enviable
position, with a superb view, in the close proximity of Bath.
The numerous artefacts recovered, and features exposed, in
this limited exploration has enabled an initial interpretation
of the development of the site to be attempted. The work to
date has not been able to identify the “two walls within the
exterior boundary” that were reported by Irvine. ...erefore,
it can only be assumed at this stage that both pieces of
research relate to the same complex of buildings. However,
it must be stressed that only a small fraction of the site has
been examined during this evaluation and a more extensive
investigation is required to provide a much fuller picture of
the sequence of activity on the site.
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Stapleton
Cosst Hospital Lodge Road, Kingswood, ST 64238
74555. A watching brief during redevelopment groundwork
revealed a coal shaft in the north-west corner of the site.
No other features or deposits of archaeological significance
were observed.

Gary Baddeley

Land behind No. 42 Brook Road, Fishponds, ST 63538
7. ..0. A watching brief during development groundwork
revealed no features or deposits of archaeological
significance.

Ray Ducker

St Augustine
Brandon Hill, ST 5789 7297. Two evaluation trenches were
excavated near the top of Brandon Hill to investigate a
bastion-shaped feature thought to be part of the Civil War
fortifications dating from the early 1640s. A section across
the line of the ditch revealed its original shape to be similar
to that of a Civil War outwork recorded at Gloucester Lane,
Old Market in 2002. The ditch had been recut to more than
half its original depth sometime around 1898 when Cabot
Tower was constructed. The bastion retaining-wall and earth
bank proved to be of a much later date than the Civil War
era and were possibly part of a folly’, probably constructed
in the mid- to late 18th century. Further landscaping took
place around the summit in the 1850s, raising both ground
level within the bastion and the height of the retaining wall.
wund 1898 the retaining wall was refaced and coping
stones were added. Similar masonry to that within the walls
of the upper bastion was also used to face an ‘outer’ line of
earthw. ~  further down the hill, first described by Samuel
Seyer in 1823 as being part of the Civil War defences.
Andy King

St George
The Lord Rodney, Two Mile Hill Road, ST 63495 73792.
The disused Lord Rodney public house was recorded to
English Heritage Level 2 standard prior to its proposed
removal. The Lord Rodney was sited at the top of a long
climb out from central Bristol and would have been an
excellent point at which to rest and water the horses. 1t
may have had its present name since c178 8. The mainly
two-storey rubble-built structure was probably erected in
the 18th century, with additions northwards and eastwards
during the 19th and early-mid 20th centuries. Slag blocks
produced as a by-product of the local brass industry were
used in some of the additions. Partial cellarage at basement
level was included within the rear of the building. Service
rooms were placed within the rear range, with facilities such
as stables and a coach house at the eastern end. A trough and
pump were provided outside for the horses.

John Bryant

Netham Lock, Netham, ST 61594 7_ 2. Archaeological
recording was carried out during the lifting and replacement
of Netham Lock gates. The lock, gates, lock sides and the

Lock Keeper’s Cottage are all Grade 11 listed structures. The
site fc the connection between the Feeder Canal and
the River Avon which at this point run east to west, and is
bounded south by Feeder Road, east by the two bridges of
Netham Road and north by Netham Park. The upper section
of the lock sits at 9.2m aOD and the lower section of the
gate at 8.1m aOD

Simon Roper

St~ s

St James Priory, Whitson Street, ST 58895 73470. A watching
brief and building recording during a major renovation
programme at St James Priory revealed a number of post-
medieval structures in and around the church. Monumental
inscriptions and post-medieval brick-lined graves were also
recorded. Medieval floor tiles and fragments of worked stone
were recovered as residual = s © later contexts. The most
significant of these was part of a medieval sundial carved
with Arabic numerals which was recovered from rubble
incorporated into the 19th-century north wall of the church.
The style of the numerals suggests it was probably made
in the 15th century. Interestingly, this appears to be what is
known as an ‘equatorial’ sundial. This type of sundial has
a polar oriented gnomon and a face angled at 38.5° above
horizontal, and is  early type of ‘scier *~ ’ sundial, i.e.
its production requires a certain degree of astronc " :al
knowledge. U " 2 earlier medieval ‘scratch’ dials, it has
hours of equal duration throughout the year. This may be
the earliest = 'wn scientific sundial in Britain.

Foundations of a post-medieval building, probably built
in the 17th century and demolished in the early 1850s,
were uncovered immediately to the west of the church. The
remains of three 18th or early [9th-c vy townhouses
incorporated into the eastern end of the church (formerly
Nos. 1-3 C n Street) were also recorded.

Excavations in the north and south aisles of the church
revealed that the interior is densely packed with brick-
lined vaults and graves containing in-situ burials, most of
which are in lead coffins. Monumental inscriptions show
that whilst there are intramural burials dating from as early
as the late 16th century, the vast majority were interred in
the 18th and early 19th century. Excavations immediately
to the south of the church and in St James Parade revealed
that this area also contains densely packed 18th and early
19th century brick-lined graves. The foundations of a porch,
probably built in {802 and demolished c1880, were also
uncovered in this area.

Cai Mason

St John

Old Fire Station, Silver Street, ST 58910 73320. Building
survey was undert ~ nto " lish Heritage level 2 standard
to record a range of buildings prior to their redevelopment.
Photographic recording was accompanied by annotation of
existing architect’s drawings and annotated sketches. The
OId Fire Station was designed in 1924, built in 192 ,and
officially opened in 1930. It was built as part of a single
development which included the former police headquarters
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built, two-storey houses had been built against the viaduct
on the Victoria Street frontage. Most of the arches under
the viaduct were used as stables for the newly expanded
George & Railway Hotel. These stables evidently proved
insufficient for the hotel *in 1883 a large new, brick-built
stable block with a clear span corrugated iron roof was built
between the viaduct and Portwall Lane East. Although this
building was adapted for use as a garage and car showroom
in the 20th century, there was little alteration to the fabric of
the 1883 stable block. The Harbour Railway closed in 1965,
but the tracks continued to be used as a wagon store until
bridge over Victoria Street was removed in the mid 1990s.
Cai Mason

Westbury-on-Trym
No. 40 Coombe Lane, ST 5 5 76691. A watching brief
within the grounds of the site, also known as the Red
House or Red House Farm, found no features or deposits of
archacological significance.

Simon Roper

The Barn Grove Road, Coombe Dingle, ST 5. 26, A
watching brief du ©  groundwork for a side extension and
garage revealed no features or deposits of archaeological
interest.

Ray Ducker

Pen Park Sports Ground, Jarratts Road, Southmead ST
59045 78813. A watching brief during work to improve the
drainage and playing quality of the sports pitches revealed
no features or deposits of archaeological sig ™" L
Tim Longman

SOUT" GLOU'\/ub j ERSPIII\E

Cold Ashton
Juniper Lodge, Gloucester Road, Nimlet, ST 7479 7166. A
watching brief during the construction of a new agricultural
building revealed no archaeological features or finds.

Cai Mason
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Level 3. The western side of the building may date from the
I6th or 17th century and contains a single raised cruck. The
remainder of the building appears tc * "z fr he 18th and
19th century.

David Etheridge, BWA

Yate
Land at Westerleigh Road, ST 7..3 8197. An evaluation
exposed concrete wall footings and brick-lined drainage
features possibly associated with a First World War prisoner
of war camp or a 1930s brickworks.

Tom Weavill, CA
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area was heavily disturbed when the sewage works was

constructed.
Richard Tabor and Cheryl Green, COAS

Bedminster
Ashton Avenue Bridge to Prince’s Wharf, Bedminster, ST
57230 72072 & ST 58320. A watching brief was undertaken
during geotechnical ground investigation works associated
with a proposed route of the Greater Bristol Rapid Transit
sch . A total of four test pits were archaeologically
monitored. The two along the southern edge of Wapping
Railway Wharf uncovered post-mcdieval dump layers
overlain by latc 19th and 20th-century railway track bedding
layers, and the two above the Underfall sluice on Cumberland
Road revealed the top of this 19th-century structure.

Cai Mason, BaRAS

Gala Bingo Hall, North Street, Bedminster, ST 58169 71512.
A Level 2 building survey was undertaken at the former Rex
Cinema to record the building prior to its demolition. The
cinema was designed in the late 1930s and opened in 1940.
After being gutted during an air raid in 1941 it was repaired
and re-opened the same year. Original features included
decorative plasterwork and some lighting and ventilation
equipment. Although ~ ¢ were no significant structural
alterations to the building since a circle level balcony was
added c1956, the cosmetic appearance of the building was
largely a result of an early 1980s refit when it was converted
for use as a bingo hall.

Cai Mason, BaRAS

White Horse Public House, West Street, ST 579210
709406. A programme of excavation, monitoring and
building recording was undertaken on land belonging to the
former White Horse Public House. The excavation revealed
evidence of a medium sized outbuilding, with cobbled
surface and potential internal wcll. The main structural
features appeared to be late 18th—early 19th century in date
and were seen to truncate post-medieval rubbish pits also
containing 18th-century finds. Residual 13th—14th-cen
ceramics contained within ie features and evident to
the SW of the site, hi ~ " ht domestic activity in the area
in the medieval period. However, no features of this date
were revealed during the excavation or watching brief. It
is suggested that the medieval land surface may have been
levelled and therefore heavily truncated at the time of the
late 18th — early 19th century development of the site.
Paul Martin and Sam Driscoll, AA

Victoria Baptist Church, Sylvia Avenue, ST 5950 7109.
A watching brief during gr  lworks revealed a single
post-medieval/modern pit and an earlier ground horizon
in the southern part of the site. The groundworks reached
the natural ground in the northern part of the site, but no
archaeologically significant features were present within this
area. A possible former pond which had been backfilled with
modern material was found in the northern corner of the site.

FA

Land at Bellevue Terrace, Totterdown, ST 59757 71896.
A watching brief during groundworks revealed a simple
stratigraphic  sequence, consisting of topsoil, sealing
intermittent subsoil deposits, to a combi depth of up to
600mm below the present ground surface, in turn overlying
the undisturbed natural clay and limestone. Only one feature
of archaeological interest was revealed, a probable garden/
boundary wall associated with the two large villas, which
had existed towards the northern edge of the site during the
latter half of the 19th century.

Nick Corcos, AAU

Former Methodist Chapel Vivian Street, Windmill Hill, ST
58930 . .330. A standing building survey has shown that,
structurally, the chapel and vestry appear largely unaltered.
Although the windows and outer vestry door have been
blocked, no significant alterations have been carried out on
the building. with the exception of those made to the arched
window in the northern chapel wall to allow access to the
later kitchen block.

Tracey Smith, BaRAS

Filwood Park, Hengrove Way, Knowle West, ST 59503
69350. A watching brief was undertaken during ground
investigation and infrastructure works in Filwood Park. A
few sherds of residual Romano-British and medieval pottery
were recovered from the topsoil.

Cai Mason, BaRAS

Wedlocks Public House, Bower Ashton Terrace, Bristol,
ST 56836 71526. Building recording and a watching brief
was undertaken at Wedlocks, originally the Star Inn. The
building was an early-20th-century structure which had
undergone considerable alteration over time. An earlier
Star | on the site was probably constructed in the first
half of the 19th century, although its precise date has not
been established. Buildings are depicted on the site on
the © ng Ashton tithe-commutation map of 1842 and a
“Star Inn” at Long Ashton is also mentioned in the Bristol
Mercury in 1 . The pub was renamed “Wedlocks” in
1981 and closed in 2005. The frontage of the early-20th-
century Star Inn was constructed in the neo-Georgian style
typical of the period and incorporated a date-plaque for
1900.

The watching brief revealed a subterranean masonry
feature, probably a drain, associated with outbuildings
formally to the rear of the premises.

Tim Longman, BaRAS

Wappine Old Gaol Wall (West), Cumberland Road, Bristol,
ST 584.. 72089. Two lengths of early 19th century walling
were examined and existing survey drawings updated. The
eastern part of the wall was recorded photographically, the
western portion having been recorded in 2012. The faces
comprised squarcd, flat-finished ashlar blocks of variable
widths of up to 1200mm in length, laid as regular courses,
the joints being very tight.

John Bryant, BaRAS



Brislington

Lynwood House, No 625 Bath Road, ST 61506 71046. A
standing building record to EH Level 2 was made of this
building before conversion to apartments. Lynwood House
is a ¢.1841 2-storey, 6-bedroom house, built as a family
home in the Gothic style of the period, with 20th century
additions and alterations.

Bruce Williams, BWA

Nos 22-24 Clothier Road, Brislington, ST 62739 70689. A
watching brief was undertaken prior to the construction of
a new warehouse, with the aim of rccording any remains
of a substantial post-medieval dwelling known as Winash
House. Although the house itself was destroyed during
redevelopment in the mid-20th century, some features did
survive, including a boundary wall around a garden and
carriage drive to the north of the house, and the surface of
the drive itself, both of which were probably constructed
between the late 17th and early 19th century. Further
structural remains associated with the house are likely to
survive in the south-west corner of an adjacent car park.
Cai Mason, BaRAS

Clifton

Chesterfield Hospital, ST 57297 72950. A watching brief
was carried out during construction groundworks in order to
look for early medieval or post-medieval survival from the
development of Clifton Village. The location is the site of
the manor house previt own as Clifton Court and its
stable blocks, built in 1742, with additio  buildings added
in the 19th century. The latest phase of standing structures
dates to the 20th century when the property was converted
from a hospital to a nursing home.

However, there was no indication of any structure on
the site prior to the 18th century and no carly finds. A stone
drainage channel and associated tank in the southern half
of the site, the remains of a flagstone paved surface in the
north-east and another stone-lined tank north of the stable
block dated to various periods in the life of the Court but
none pre-dated it.

Tracey Smith, BaRAS

Tellisford Cottage, ST 5667 7396. Historic Building
Recording of Tellisford Cottage and a garage to the rear
and within the curtilage of Tellisford House, a Grade 11
Listed building, was undertaken. Tellisford House was built
between 1853-5, on land previously undeveloped, as one
of a pair of large semi-detached houscs, the northe) st
of a group of high-status houses along Clifton Down. The
cottage is not mapped in 1874, but a building occupying
its site, but of different dimensions does appear in 1882. A
building control application of 1928 shows that the cottage
" cd in that year in recognisably its present form. The
building is in very poor condition, but the recording has
indicated that it had a complex history between 1. - and
1928 and has undergone substantial alteration in and after

the latter year.
Peter Davenport, CA
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Litfield House, Clifton Down, ST 56803 73375. An
ornamental audit of the lower ground floor of Litfield House
was undertaken. The features which werc observed could
be broadly separated into two groups. The first were those
probably original to the construction of the house and for
the most part compriscd windows, :  lers, door cases and
some doors. The second were those associated wilh the
construction of a billiard room carried out by the owner
some time after 1926.

Simon Roper, BaRAS

Hope Chapel, Hope Chapel Hill, Hotwells, ST 56904 72661 .
Recording work and a watching bricf was undertaken
during the conversion of a crypt into a more useable space.
The chapel is a Grade Il Listed Building, which was built
between 1786 and 1788, and rebuilt in 1837/38. Monumental
inscriptions were recorded within the chapel and crypt, and
a total of 36, mostly adult, burials were uncovered, the
majority of which date from the period 1788 to 1836. The
human remains were analysed and then reburied in a vault
below the chapel.

Cai Mason, BaRAS

Henbury
Blaise Nursery, Kings Weston Road, Lawrence Weston, ST
55282 7¢ A watching brief was undc 1 during the
laying of a new concrete slab and drainage works for a
modern barn at Blaisc Nursery. The sequence of deposits
observed during the groundworks would indicate a site-
wide horizontal truncation of any historical soil deposits and
associated archaeological features, with the area rcduced
to the top of natural before being levelied. There was no
evidence of the Roman road which was thought to run
through the site.

Tracey Smith, BaRAS

Wind Turbines at Severn Road/Chittening Road, NGR ST
53230 81934. A watching brief was undertaken during
construction groundwork. No archaeologically significant
deposits or featurcs were present within the deep layer of
estuarine alluvium.

Tim Longman, BaRAS

Kings Weston Roman Villa, Long Cross, Lawrence Weston,
Bristol, ST 53372 ...354. A watching brief was carried out
during the excavation of a soak-away located outside the
north-west comner of the visitor centre. The groundworks
revealed a substantial layer of 1940s excavation backfill
lying directly over natural. In the north-east section of the
trench the bar™ "1 could be seen overlying the remains of
a previously excavated Roman drain and a later cut feature
backfilled with industrial waste.

Tracey Smith, BaRAS

PRC Housing at Lawrence Weston. Bristol, between ST
54750 78575 and ST 54275 ... . _. A watching brief
was carried out during groundworks associated with the
demolition of 56 pre-cast reinforced concrete houses built
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soon after WW2. No archaeological features were uncovered
during groundworks, but a small quantity of residual
Romano-British and medieval pottery was recovered from
topsoil and subsoil layers in Capel Road and Awdeleit
Close.

Cai Mason, BaRAS

Horfield
Land at the Beehive Public House, Wellington Hill West,
Horfield, ST 58770 77 ). A watching brief was undertaken
during construction groundwork. Other than two mid/late
19th-century wall foundations, one of which may be the back
wall of the ‘Old Beehive’ beer house, and a contemporary
well, no significant ar~  Hlogical deposits or features were
present. A few ds of Romano-British and medieval
pottery were recovered.

Tim Longman, BaRAS

Redcliffe
Bristol General Hospital, Guinea Road, ST 5885 7216.
Building Recording and a watching brief were undertaken.
The work was carried out to mitigate the « cts of
refurbishment and partial demolition on the historic fabric of
the hospital buildings which underwent almost continuous
change from 1855 to 1931. Further changes followed
extensive war damage and NHS modernization. The
construction * ~ tory of the buildings was investigated and
a structural sequence with dates elucidated. Understanding
the many changes that took place over a relatively short
period was simplified by extensive use of original architects’
drawings to clarify the sequence of changes between
1855 and 1931. Later changes were also noted, from the
1950s to the 1990s. A photographic and drawn record was
made.

Peter Davenport, CA

St Augustine

No. 31 College Green, central Bristol, ST 58402 72814.
An historic building assessment was carried out prior to
an application for ed Building Consent being sought
to allow internal alterations, largely to the upper storeys.
Number 31 (now also No. 31a for part of the ground floor
and basement), is a Listed Grade Il building dating from the
early 18th century. It has a typical Georgian style of {ront,
and was once part of a row of individual houses of quality
fronting onto the Green. However, the origins of the site go
back much further, with buildings recorded here since at
least the 1560s. There is a possibility that both party walls
may incorporate elements from earlier structures, and the
cellars may also pre-date the present building. Internally,
the gro  floor was much altered in the 19th or early 20th
centuries, while the internal layout of rooms on the upper
floors has been much changed since 1934 (possibly in the
1960s and later). As built, the house possessed =~ e main
storeys plus cellars and an attic, and may have included a
small rear privy block from the beginning; at the rear was
a 2-storey detached or semi-detached kitchen block, with
brick-vaulted cellars. Alongside the party wall with No.

30 survives an open-well staircase of early to mid-18th
century design, although the bottom doglegged section
was removed probably in 1934, The original room layout
for the principal floors was a small room either end of the
staircase, with two larger rooms in the south-eastern side of
the building. No original fireplaces survive, nor does any
decorative plasterwork (e.g.ceilings); many of the Georgian
room divisions have been removed.

John Bryant, BaRAS

St George

No. 34 Queen ~ n Road, Barton Hill, ST 60733 72730. An
evaluation uncovered substantial, well-preserved structural
remains of a 19th-century pottery, including walls, floors
and a probable kiln base. A large dump of potiery kiln waste
dating from the 1870s was uncovered towards the southern
end of the site.

Documentary evidence suggests that the Barton Hill
Pottery was probably built in the early 1870s as an extension
to an sting pottery run by Alfred Niblett. The pottery
closed in 1888. The site was then used by a metal merchant
and a paint keg and oil um manufacturer until at least
1917. Parts of the former pottery were demolished between
1902 and 1912. During the 1920s and 30s the site was
converted into ¢ ~ lighter,¢ "2 and polish factory, which
was destroyed by fire in the early 1940s.

Cai Mason, BaRAS

Former Colliery Chimney, Troopers Hill Road, ST 62881
72849. An English Heritage Level 2 building survey was
undertaken prior to consolidati  work at the top of this
Pennant Sandstone rubble and slag block structure. The
chimney is an early 19th-century Grade 11 Listed Building
which originally formed part of an engine house at the
Crews Hole Pit (also known as Troopers Hill Pit).

Cai Mason, BaRAS

St James
John Weslev’s New Room Chapel, No. 36 The Horsefair, ST
59082 73403. An evaluation undertaken at John Wesley’s
New Room Chapel uncovered substantial structural remains
of two 18th or early 19th-century cellared build: i, which
formed part of a group of tenements known as Pim’s Court.
Beyond the cellared area there was a sequence of dump
layers containing mid 17th to early 18th-century finds. It was
not possible to determine the relationship between the dump
layers and the cellared buildings, or whether they overlay
earlier deposits at greater depth. A visual examination of the
fabric of a single-storey, cellared lean-to building abutting
the chapel indicated a late 18th or early 19th century
construction date.

Cai Mason, BaRAS

St Michael

Land off Tyndall’s Park Road, ST 5787 7356. A watching
brief identified three late 19th and early 20th-century
residential property boundary walls. One corresponds to
the boundary between Westbury-on-Trym and St Michael’s



parishes whilst another relates to terracing in the formal
garden of Samber House, built 1840—1855.
Charlotte Haines, CA

Horfield Road, Haematology and Oncology Centre, BRI,
ST 58500 73500. A watching brief revealed both sides of
18th-century Terrell Strect together with the basement
and partial ground floor ol 19th-centruy Terrell Cottage,
the basement for another building, a well and other post-
medieval walls.

Raymond Ducker, BWA

St Paul Without
No. 93 Stokes Croft, ST 5911 7398. . surviving
timber framing in the front elevation of the building was
photographically recorded internally after render had been
removed. Number 93 is one of a surviving pair of Grade
II listed, gabled, late 17th or early 18th century houses on
the west side of the strect. The framing was unremarkable,
with roughly-worked timbers nailed together and no visible
carpentry joints.

John Bryant, BaRAS

Bath Buildings, off Cheltenham Road, Montpelier, Bristol.
ST 59148 74381. BaRAS undertook an excavation and
watching brief on the site of a new healthcare centre. Both
phases of archaeological work exposed a series of buildings
and features associated with the mid-18th to early-20th
century Rennison’s Baths, as shown on early maps. A 1940s
weighbric  was also located. Preservation of the buried
features was generally good, enabling a better understanding
of the phases of activity on the site. A section of the ‘ised
Cutler’s Brook was also found and recorded during the
project, although outside the main construction area.

Tim Longman & Tracey Smith, BaRAS

25A Bath Buildings, off Cheltenham Road, Montpelier,
ST 5911 7437. A desk-based heritage assessment was
undertaken for this site which is occupied by buildings that
are mostly of later 20th century date, though there is one
building that is likely to date from the 19th century, while at
least two other buildings incorporate walls of 19th century
date.

The study area was part of the out parish of St. James
during the Middle Ages, and since later Saxon times it
had been part of the large manor of Ashley. Until the 18th
century the area had been entirely rural. The carliecst map
to show the study area in detail dates from 1828, and this
shows the area was occupied by a nursery. Just cast of the
study area flowed the Cutler’s Mill Brook. On the west bank,
opposite the study arca, was Terrett’s Mill, first documented
in 1708 but probably established in the later 17th century.
An adjacent fish pond may have been a popular spot for
bathing. By 1764 a Thomas Rennison had converted it into
an open air baths and charged tuppence admission, the first
public baths in Bristol.

By1855 the study area had acquired much of its present
shape, and had been developed with industrial I " lings.
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The study area and surrounding portions of land were
acquired in 18 by the notable building firm of Stephens,
Bastow and Co. Ltd, builders of the Lyric Theatre, London.
The study area was used as their offices, workshop and
timber yard. The company ceased trading in 1911 but the
site continued as a timber yard for some time. By 1944 it
was largely int and by 1946 new structures had been
erected on site. In 1950 the study area was recorded as a toy
factory. It has been occupied by Fowlers engineering works
from the mid-1950s onwards.

David Etheridge, BWA

St Philip & St Jaceb
Former Seven Ways Public House, 23 New Street, St Judes,
ST 5968 7332. A programme of building recording prior to
demolition and conversion work, followed by a watching
bricf during construction groundwork was  “ertaken.
Substantial foundations of a boundary wall along<ide
St Matthias Park (road), that appear to date from the .. .h
century, were the earliest archacological remains recorded on
site. The wall possibly appears on an early 18th-century plan
of the by Jacob Millerd. Structural remains belonging to
both the ‘Old Swan’ pub built in the 18th century (including
an extensive nctwork of contemporary subterrancan cellar
passages or ‘tunnels’), its replacement the ‘New Swan’ built
in 1891 and substantial 1970s alterations were also recorded.
Deposits of ash, kiln waste and fragments of clay tobacco
pipes, which had been used to infill the cellar passages
when the old inn was being demolished are likely to have
originated from the site of a clay tobacco pipe factory
located, at that time, across the road at No. 22 New Street.
Tim Longman, BaRAS

Junction of Wade Street and Little Ann Street, St Judes, ST
59829 73501. An cvaluation uncovered early 18th-century
cut features and well-preserved structural remains of 18th
and early 19th-century tencments. The carliest buildings
(along the Wade Street frontage) were constructed between ¢
1710 and 1720. During the later 18th and early 19th-century
infill development (Swan Court and Pratten’s Court) resulted
inadensely t ~ .up area of low quality housing. This was
demolished as part of a slum clearance project initiated in
the 1930s and completed in the 1950s. There are likely to be
extensive well-preserved structural and other remains:  1ss
most of the site.

Cai Mason, BaRAS

St Stephen

Nos 69-73 Queen Square, ST 58729 72665. Building
recording of this Grade Il Listed building, formerly known
as Queen Annc House was carried out prior to internal and
external alterations. The basements of the propertics contain
the carliest surviving masonry, dating from the sccond
decade of the 18th century. The standing buildings above
ground are replaccments of carlier town houses burnt down
in the Reform Bill rioting of 1831 and as such, their earliest
structural fabric dates from ¢ 1833-4. With the exception
of N0.72, each of the Queen Square properties retains
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interior architectural fittings of some historical merit, most
notably, shuttered, casement window frames, but also door
surrounds, skirting b Is, some plaster ceilings and coving.
However, there is no room, in any of the buildings, that
retains all of its 1830s fittings or architectural features.
Andy King, BaRAS

No. 66 Queen Square and Nos 22-23A King Street, ST
58729 72665. A watching brief during the excavation of
geotechnical test pits, window samples and boreholes
showed that structural remains of buildings survive beneath
the modern offices. Evidence for extensive post-medieval
dumping across the whole site was recorded.

Tracey Smith, BaRAS

Westbury-on-Trym
Sea Mills Square, off Shirehampton Road, Sea Mills, ST
55115 76800. A watching brief was undertaken during the
excavation of geotechnical trial pits. The side walls and
parts of the roof of a partially demolished Second World
War communal air-raid shelter were located at the depth of
about 0.7m below the current ground surface.

Tim Longman, BaRAS

No. 49A Parrys Lane, Stoke Bishop, ST 56631 76103,
A two-storey building at the former Dairy Crest milk
distribution depot was recorded prior to demolition. The
ground floor incorporated the remains of a barn that was
certainly in place by 1817 and retained much of its character
until 1963, when the old roof was replaced by new first
floor offices. Cold stores had been installed, both inside the
original structure and in extensions along its southern side,
and a roofed loading dock added on its downslope side. The
depot was used by Hornby’s Dairies, a well-known local
concern, later named Bristol Dairies, and was later part of
the Unigate business before it became Dairy Crest.

John Bryant, BaRAS

Rear of Lamplighter Public House, Station Road,
Shirehampton, ST 52 7 3.Three trenches were
excavated and revealed late post-medieval made ground
»osits. No significant archaeological remains were found.
Bruce Williams, BWA

Bristol Free School, Burghill Road, Southmead NGR
ST 57626 78336. A watching brief during groundworks
revealed no archaeological features or deposits; however,
the presence of coal or clinker suggests that the underlying
subsoil is of modern formation, possibly formed during an
episode of steam ploughing in the late 19th or early 20th
century, and this may obscure archaeological remains.
Richard Tabor and Cheryl Green, COAS

NORTH SOMERSET

Abbots Leigh
Land at Burwalls, Bridge Road, ST 56303 72829. A desk-
based assessment was undertaken for land at Burwalls. The

site consists of a very large, detached 19th-century house,
set within extensive landscaped grounds, and = “uding
a small number of ancillary buildings, including a former
stable block and small lodge house, all of which are Grade
11 listed. Within the grounds of the house lie the remains of
Burwalls Camp, a probable Iron Age promontory fort, with
possible Bronze Age antecedents, one of three such camps
located to either side of the Clifton Gorge. Landscaping has
destroyed much of the surviving ramparts, but it is likely
that sub-surface archaeological vestiges still remain ir situ.
The existence of the prehistoric enclosure was recognised
historically in the Old English toponym, Burwalls, and it is
likely that the area of the hill-fort was viewed as a separate
enclosure during the medieval period. The site came into the
hands of St Augustine’s Abbey during the medieval period,
and later fell into the hands of the Smyth family, where it
remained, as part of their Asht ~ Court estate, until the 19th
century.

The main house at Burwalls was constructed in the late
19th century, as part of the development associated with
the construction of the Suspension Bridge, itself completed
in 1864. In 1894, the house was sold to the Wills far 7,
who added the ancillary buildings in the late 19th/early 20th
century.

Nick Corcos AAL

Stable Block and Annexe, Burwalls House, ST 56303 72829.
A ‘ing building survey, to English Heritage Level 11
standard, was unde ~ * :n of the stable block and annexe, at
Burwalls House. This found that the stable block post-dated
the main house, in the late 19th/early 20th century, and was
of more than one phase of construction. The original building
is rectangular in plan, of two storey brick construction, with
aceramic tiled roof. A garageandy " le inspection pit were
added at the north-eastern side of the building in or around
1905 ~ ‘he late 1970s-80s, after purchase of the property
by Bristol University, the entire stable block was converted
for use as student accommodation, which involved the
construction of an annexe building and a further ancillary
building.

Susana Dias, AA

~-.2adon

Land at Bleadon Level, ... 32709 56378. A desk-based
assessment was undertaken for undeveloped farmland,
situated within a loop of the River Axe and within the
estuarine/alluvial environment of the Somerset Levels.
The assessment found that, historically, the study area has
consisted of agricultural land since at least the mid- h
century, and had probably been subject to successive
phases of land reclamation during the medieval period. The
only feature of archaeological interest in the immediate
vicinity was the recorded site of a 16th/17th century
windmill, of which no trace was visible during a site visit.
More significantly, the assessment highlighted the fact
that the entire site is situated within an area of complex
Quaternary alluvial deposits, including the so-called
Wentlooge Series, which is noted for its preservation of









produced an Anglo-Saxon radiocarbon date of cal. AD
767-890. A subscquent cxcavation revealed that the mound
was adjacent (o a palacochanncl. In addition to two layers
of burnt stone, five water troughs were associated with the
mound, four beneath the centre of the mound deposit, and
one immediatcly to the west. Seven postholes identified in
association with the mound may have supported structures,
although the nature of these is unknown. The burnt mound
was cul by a Roman ditch possibly associated with water
management, and there was possible evidence for dredging
in this period. Five further charcoal-rich pits, similar to
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the Anglo-Saxon pil recorded during the evaluation, were
found, but none contained finds or evidence of function.
Christopher Leonard, CA

Wick
Byways, ST 7057572895. A watching brief was carried
out on land to the south of a property that fell within
the potential boundaries of the medieval manor of Wick.
Groundwork revealed no archaeological fecatures or artefacts
and no finds were recovered from the spoil.

Paul Martin & Sam Driscoll, AA



	avol-25
	Image_00495
	Image_00496
	Image_00497
	Image_00498
	Image_00499
	Image_00500
	Image_00501
	Image_00502
	Image_00503
	Image_00504
	Image_00505
	Image_00506
	Image_00507
	Image_00508
	Image_00509
	Image_00510
	Image_00511
	Image_00512
	Image_00513
	Image_00514
	Image_00515
	Image_00516
	Image_00517
	Image_00518
	Image_00519
	Image_00520
	Image_00521
	Image_00522
	Image_00523
	Image_00524
	Image_00525
	Image_00526
	Image_00527
	Image_00528
	Image_00529
	Image_00530
	Image_00531
	Image_00532
	Image_00533
	Image_00534
	Image_00535
	Image_00536
	Image_00537
	Image_00538
	Image_00539
	Image_00540
	Image_00541
	Image_00542
	Image_00543
	Image_00544
	Image_00545
	Image_00546
	Image_00547
	Image_00548
	Image_00549
	Image_00550
	Image_00551
	Image_00552
	Image_00555

